IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 23-ICA-207

ICA EFiled: Aug 24 2023 07:29PM EDT

West Virginia HCR Manorcare Facilities, Heartland of Beckley, Heartland of Charleston, Heartland of Clarksburg, Heartland of Keyser, Heartland of Martinsburg, Heartland of Preston County and Heartland of Rainelle,

Petitioners Below, Petitioners

VS.

West Virginia Department of Health and Human Resources, Bureau for Medical Services, Respondent Below, Respondent

BRIEF OF PETITIONERS

Gordon Copland (WV Bar# 828) gordon.copland@steptoe-johnson.com STEPTOE & JOHNSON PLLC 400 White Oaks Boulevard Bridgeport, WV 26630 Telephone: (304) 933-8000

Facsimile: (304) 933-8183

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

This case concerns appropriate Medicaid payment, for the cost reporting period from January 1, 2012 to June 30, 2012, due to the West Virginia HCR nursing facilities. ("HCR") The Bureau for Medical Services of the West Virginia Department of Health and Human Services ("BMS" or "The Bureau") reimburses nursing facilities, for services to West Virginia Medicaid recipients, based on "allowable costs." This appeal arises from the third evidentiary proceeding on the same cost report period, and concerns allowable costs related to liability insurance.

BMS initially held that any paid claim expenses incurred by nursing facilities with high insurance deductibles, such as legal fees and settlement costs, were not allowable costs. On appeal after the first evidentiary hearing, the Supreme Court of Appeals rejected that position as an error of law and remanded for further proceedings to determine the extent of costs that were reasonable and not "substantially out of line" under relevant federal regulations. A.R.1454. After the second evidentiary hearing, the BMS Hearing Examiner found that BMS had not complied with the mandate to assess those costs in accord with the Supreme Court's mandate. A.R. 1173.

At the third evidentiary hearing, BMS demonstrated that it has still failed to comply with the mandate of the Supreme Court of Appeals. The Bureau proposed including an additional \$50,000 in allowable expenses for each HCR facility. A.R. 1511. The recommended decision of the Hearing Examiner, adopted by the Bureau (the "Hearing Decision" – A.R. 1606), approved the action of the Bureau and was in error, for the following reasons:

1. The \$50,000 figure was not the product of an assessment made under the factors set forth in the decision of the Supreme Court or determined by any calculation or

assessment, but was adopted at the direction of BMS counsel. The Hearing Decision recognized that figure was "not satisfactorily explained." (A.R. at 1627). The Decision erred in accepting a facially arbitrary and capricious figure.

- 2. The Hearing Decision erroneously assessed only whether the originally reported liability costs of HCR were "substantially out of line," without assessing the point at which the costs became substantially out of line and what portion might be properly allowable.
- 3. The Hearing Decision made no assessment or analysis of the relevant factors to determine a correct level of allowable costs and thus exclude only those costs that were "substantially out of line."
- 4. The Hearing Decision was also in error in accepting the proposed \$50,000 figure because there was no substantial support for it in the record, and it was contrary to the reliable and probative evidence in the record.
- 5. The Hearing Decision erred in rejecting the proposals of HCR, for \$46.08 or \$47.07 in costs per day (compared to the original limit of \$60.60 per day) as a reasonable assessment of the point beyond which costs would be "substantially out of line." The Hearing Decision's stated bases were arbitrary or in clear legal error. For example, the Hearing Decision held that rates previously approved by BMS were not properly considered by HCR's experts because those rates included direct settlement and liability costs—a holding precluded by the Supreme Court's earlier decision.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Hearing Decision arose from a hearing on October 19, 2022 regarding the appropriate reimbursement to the HCR nursing facilities for services provided to residents covered by West Virginia's Medicaid program. A.R. 1471. That hearing was the third hearing to

occur¹ in connection with an underlying agency decision issued more than 10 years ago, on June 17, 2013 (the "Desk Review Decision"). A.R. 1186.

West Virginia's Medicaid program reimburses nursing facilities based on allowable costs. The Desk Review Decision held that nursing facilities with high-deductible insurance policies could not include, as allowable liability insurance costs, settlement and litigation costs they incurred below their deductible. A.R. 1191 at ¶ 18 ("it is clear that such payments are not an allowable expense"). The Bureau disallowed over \$53,000,000 in costs and substantially reduced the payments to the facilities. A.R. 1709-1710 (showing aggregate disallowance and effect on daily rates). The disallowance amounted to 81.23% of the total "Taxes and Insurance" cost center. A.R. 1255 at 40:8-41:4. The Bureau did not disallow legal expenses or fees such as direct insurance premium but attempted to remove all of the paid claim and settlement costs. A.R. 1360-1361 at 37:24-38:21; A.R. 1370 at 76:21-23. However, after getting more specific information on the HCR facility's paid claims costs, the Bureau realized some paid claims had not been disallowed, and Ms. Snow prepared DHHR Exhibit 19 to show the variance between the actual disallowance and what the disallowance would have been based on the later information. A.R. 1258-1259 at 50:13-54:11. The differential between the actual disallowance and the recalculated disallowance would have been about 2%. A.R. 1264 at 75:14-76:12.

The West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals held that BMS committed an error of law in its conclusion that litigation and settlement costs were not allowable costs. *Heartland of Beckley WV, LLC v. Bureau for Medical Services*, No. 15-0595, 2016 WL 6248620 (W. Va. Oct. 26, 2016); A.R. 1454. The Court specifically held that that relevant federal regulations and

¹ The parties agreed that the full record from the prior two hearings would be deemed part of the record for the third hearing. A.R. 1474 at 9:7-10:4.

guidance applied in the absence of a state regulation on the issue, and authorized inclusion of the costs. A.R. 1459. The Supreme Court reversed the Bureau's holding and remanded for application of the correct legal standard, including the limitation set forth in § 2102.1 of the federal government's Provider Reimbursement Manual ("PRM"),² which excludes costs that are "substantially out of line with other institutions in the same area which are similar in size, scope of services, utilization and other relevant factors." *Id*.

Upon remand, a second evidentiary hearing was held on May 22, 2018. A.R. 1351. At the second evidentiary hearing the Hearing Examiner held that the Bureau had disregarded the mandate of the Supreme Court. A.R. 1173. The Bureau did not change its position and did not undertake an assessment of reasonableness as required under the relevant regulations. A.R. 1182-1883. The Hearing Examiner did not, however, render a decision on the existing evidence but instead recommended that the matter be remanded to allow the Bureau a second opportunity to present evidence on the issue as directed in the Supreme Court's prior ruling. A.R. 1184.

After delays in obtaining a hearing date, HCR filed a petition for writ of prohibition in the Supreme Court of Appeals, seeking to preclude a third hearing and require a ruling on the existing evidence. A.R. 1462. The Supreme Court denied the petition on May 14, 2021³ and a third evidentiary hearing was held on October 19, 2022. A.R. 1462; 1468.

At the third hearing, BMS proposed that the payments to the HCR facilities be recalculated after inclusion of an additional \$50,000 in allowable costs for each facility. A.R. 1475 at 16:7-18. The facilities vary in size from 60 beds to 201 beds and the scope of previously disallowed costs varied from approximately \$400,000 to \$1,300,000 A.R. 1709.

² The Hearing Decision at one point incorrectly refers to the PRM as the "West Virginia PRM." A.R. 1610. The Hearing Decision elsewhere correctly notes that the PRM is a federal Medicare manual. *See e.g.*, A.R. 1622.

³ State ex rel. Heartland of Beckley WV LLC., No. 20-0961, 2021 WL 1944395 (W. Va. May 14, 2021)

The \$50,000 figure was not the product of an assessment of the factors set forth in the Supreme Court's decision and not the product of any methodology. The Bureau's witness, Jeanne Snow (a former Director of Rate Setting at BMS), testified that counsel for BMS had selected the \$50,000 figure. A.R. 1477 at 24:8-11. Ms. Snow provided no methodology or calculations regarding the figure that she said counsel selected. However, she provided an exhibit and testimony comparing the HCR liability costs to one other nursing home chain operating in West Virginia—Genesis HealthCare. A.R. 1475 at 14:1-15:6; A.R. 1511.

Ms. Snow acknowledged that, unlike HCR, Genesis was not self-insured. A.R. 1478 at 26:6-16. Ms. Snow relied on the Genesis facilities based on their "national chain" standing and without analysis of any relevant factors. *Id.* at 25:11-16. Ms. Snow also acknowledged that there were other national chains operating in West Virginia (A.R. 1371 at 79:9-12), none of which were considered. Ms. Snow did not know if Genesis reported all company-wide insurance costs under the "taxes and insurance" cost center as opposed to central office costs (A.R. 1478 at 26:18-22) and did not know whether the Genesis level of insurance coverage matched the \$125,000,000 level of HCR. A.R 1371 at 80:7-10. Ms. Snow did not conduct any further analysis beyond reviewing the Genesis reported costs because she had "got[ten] the results I was looking for as far as the comparison." A.R. 1478 at 25:13-16.

The Genesis facilities were low cost, with the highest cost facility ranked at 13 out of 51 large bed facilities and the lowest at 42 of 51 (arrayed high to low). A.R. 1511. The Genesis faculties' costs were, therefore, substantially lower than that of the HCR facilities, which were the highest cost facilities in the large bed group. A.R. 1710. The Genesis costs were not only below many, many facilities in the cost period under review, but also much lower than the

\$39.07 cost CAP approved by BMS in the rate period immediately prior. A.R. 1489–1490 at 72:19-73:10.

BMS provided no exhibits and no testimony connecting the costs submitted by Genesis to the \$50,000 figure the Bureau proposed as the additional allowable costs.

HCR provided expert testimony from two experts from the same firm: Lane Ellis (at the 2014 and 2018 hearings) and, after the retirement of Mr. Ellis, Greg Gibb (at the 2022 hearing). A.R. 1381 at 120:6; A.R. 1485 at 53:17. Both were accepted by the different hearing examiners as experts A.R. 1306 at 242:21-243:5; A.R. 1486-1487 at 60:24-61:24.

The HCR experts proposed two different methodologies to assess the point at which costs for the HCR facilities would become "substantially out of line," both of which were proposed at the second evidentiary hearing. The first methodology started from the Taxes and Insurance CAP adopted by the Bureau for the cost report period ending December 31 2011, one day before the cost period at issue. A.R. 1489–1490 at 72:19-73:6. That methodology, which was set out in HCR Exh. 33 (A.R. 2173) applied the approved CAP from the prior period to the HCR reported expenses, by restating the HCR facility expenses at that rate and recalculating the statewide CAP including the adjusted (not full) HCR costs. A.R. 1389-1391 at 151:16-158:24. That methodology resulted in a recalculated state-wide CAP for Taxes and Insurance of \$46.08 per diem. A.R. 2173. The second methodology was set out in HCR Exh. 35 (A.R. 2175) and started from a per-bed cost figure of \$5,600. A.R. 1392 at 164:3-15. The \$5,600 per bed figure for the Taxes and Insurance cost center came from the reported figure for another facility, which was \$5,633 (A.R. 1387 at 142:10-143:4), and in consideration of average per bed costs in a national study by AON group, that included both West Virginia and Kentucky. A.R. 1393 at 166:8. The second methodology bases allowable costs on the \$5,600 per bed for the HCR

facilities, and then re-calculates the state-wide CAP, using the modified HCR data with the preexisting data for other facilities, to arrive at a CAP of \$7.07. A.R. 1392–1393 at 164:3-169:5-13.

The Bureau did not call any experts to rebut the expert testimony offered by HCR, and did not ask Ms. Snow to assess the methodologies. The Hearing Examiner found that Mr. Gibbs was a credible expert. A.R. 1202. However, the Hearing Examiner did not accept either methodology proposed by HCR's experts, for two reasons. The first was that the HCR methodologies relied on cost data that would have included paid claims and the Bureau was not "knowingly paying for these costs before this dispute arose." A.R. 1655. The second stated basis was that the data from outside areas was not shown to have been available to the Bureau at the time it made the disallowance. *Id*.

The Hearing Examiner issued his decision on January 18, 2023 (A.R. 1633) but the Commissioner of the Bureau did not adopt the decision until April 24, 2023. A.R. 1634. HCR filed this appeal on May 23, 2023.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Bureau's position at the third evidentiary hearing still fails to comply with the mandate of the Supreme Court. Instead of conducting the required analysis to determine the point at which costs would become "substantially out of line," the Bureau proposed a purely arbitrary addition to allowable costs to resolve the improper initial disallowance.

The Bureau initially held that inclusion of *any* paid claims costs was categorically improper. After the Supreme Court corrected that error, the Bureau did not change its position and did not undertake the assessment mandated by the Supreme Court. At the third evidentiary hearing, the Bureau proposed increasing the allowable costs by \$50,000 per facility. The evidence showed, however, that the figure was not the product of the assessment directed by the

Supreme Court. The \$50,000 figure was not the product of any analytical process. It was not derived from or calculated from the reported costs of the Genesis facilities about which the Bureau's witness testified and provided exhibits. There was no methodology at all provided for the calculation of the \$50,000 figure, which was, in fact, simply selected by counsel.

The \$50,000 allowance per facility provides widely different per-bed increases, because the facilities vary from 60 to 201 beds. In all cases, however, the proposal results in rates that are far below rates approved by the Bureau in other contexts, including the rate approved and applied by the Bureau for the period ending December 31, 2011, one day before the cost period at issue here.

The Hearing Examiner acknowledged the problems and charitably stated that the "rationale" for the \$50,000 figure was not "satisfactorily explained." A.R. 1656. The Hearing Examiner nevertheless improperly accepted a figure that violated the long-established requirement for a "reasoned explanation" by an agency of its decision, and the duty to avoid arbitrary action. Syl. Pt. 2, *Citizens Bank of Weirton v. West Virginia Board of Banking and Financial Institutions*, 160 W.Va. 220, 233 S.E.2d 719 (1977). The Hearing Examiner then asserted that the "gratuitous gesture," even if "arbitrary," did not "invalidate the agency's *initial* determination" that the HCR reported costs were out of line." A.R. 1656.

That, however, does not answer the relevant question. The Bureau's Desk Review Decision disallowed all⁴ settlement costs on an improper basis, and the question now is: what portion of the reported costs should have been disallowed as "substantially" out of line compared to facilities "similar in size, scope of services, utilization and relevant factors"? PRM § 2102.1. Showing that the total reported by the various HCR facilities was "substantially out of line" is

⁴ As noted, the Statement of the Case, *supra* at 3, the Bureau later learned of additional information showing that the Bureau's methodology was imprecise and inadvertently left in about 2% of the costs.

not equivalent establishing the *portion* of the claimed total that would *not* be "substantially out of line."

HCR's experts provided two different, detailed methodologies that produced recalculated "CAP" figures that diverged by only one dollar. One calculation relied on the rate approved by BMS immediately prior to the rate period in question and resulted in a CAP of \$46.08 for "large bed" facilities. The second approach worked from a cost basis of \$5,600 per bed, a figure based on the actual costs of a similar facility, and on the reported annual costs of West Virginia and Kentucky nursing facilities in the AON studies. That methodology yielded a per diem rate of \$47.07 for the Taxes and Insurance cost center. The close correlation between the two numbers (\$46.08 and \$47.07) reinforces the reliability of both.

The Bureau did not provide expert testimony on the HCR methodologies or even solicit testimony from its witness, Jeanne Snow, even though it has had possession of the calculations since the second evidentiary hearing in May, 2018. Although the Hearing Examiner found that HCR's witness, Mr. Gibbs, was credible, he disregarded Mr. Gibb's testimony on two erroneous bases. The first was that both HCR methodologies incorporated cost data that included damage and settlement payments. Those costs however, were expressly allowed by the Supreme Court's decision. The second was simply that the Bureau did not track or have ready access to data from Kentucky (used in the second methodology). That point has nothing to do with whether the data is relevant or reliable.

Because the Bureau's proposed resolution is nothing more than a figure plucked by counsel from the air, and the HCR proposals are detailed methodologies fully explained and grounded in data, the Hearing Decision should be reversed and the Bureau directed to apply one of the HCR methodologies.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

HCR requests oral argument under Rule 20 of the Rules of Appellate Procedure. There are issues of first impression in this case, including jurisdiction of this Court over provider reimbursement cases, and the proper response to an agency that has had three evidentiary hearings on the same issue and has failed to correctly apply the law, even after a mandate of the Supreme Court of Appeals. In addition, there are over 1,600 pages in the administrative record, and the underlying payment methodologies are complex. For those reasons, a memorandum decision may not be appropriate.

ARGUMENT

I. THIS COURT HAS JURISDICTION OF THE APPEAL

The West Virginia Administrative Procedures Act does not apply, as to rule making and contested cases, to cases involving the "receipt of public assistance." W. Va. Code § 29A-1-3. For that reason, prior to the creation of this Court, review of provider payment decisions of the Bureau of Medical Services was by writ of certiorari to the Circuit Court of Kanawha Count. Syl. Pt. 2, *State ex rel. Ginsberg v. Watt*, 168 W.Va. 503, 285 S.E.2d 367 (1981) (holding that the West Virginia administrative Procedures Act did not apply to cases involving the receipt of "public assistance" and that "a writ of certiorari in the Circuit Court of Kanawha County is the proper means for obtaining judicial review of a decision made by a state agency not covered by the [APA]."); *Heartland of Beckley WV, LLC v. Bureau for Med. Servs.*, No. 15-0595, 2016 WL 6248620, at *3, FN 4 (W. Va. Oct. 26, 2016) (quoting *Ginsberg* and Syl. Pt. 2, *J.S. ex rel. S.N. v. Hardy*, 229 W. Va. 251, 728 S.E.2d 135 (2012) and holding that certiorari was the proper avenue for review).

Under the recently-enacted provisions of W. Va. Code § 51-11-4, however, this Court is given general jurisdiction over appeals of final decisions of administrative agencies. The specific language of the jurisdictional grant, however, may create a possible question as to proceedings of this kind, because it grants jurisdiction over:

(4) Final judgments, orders, or decisions of an agency or an administrative law judge entered after June 30, 2022, heretofore appealable to the Circuit Court of Kanawha County pursuant to §29A-5-4 or any other provision of this code;

W. Va. Code § 51-11-4(b)(4). Under a very narrow reading of the foregoing language, there might be a claim that jurisdiction is lacking because provider appeals by Medicaid providers were "heretofore" by writs of certiorari, and were not made pursuant to W. Va. Code §29A-5-4.

Such a narrow reading is not warranted. First, the grant of jurisdiction also includes cases "heretofore appealable to the Circuit Court of Kanawha County under any other provision of this code." W. Va. Code § 51-11-4(b)(4) (emphasis added). Review by writ of certiorari was previously authorized under "other provisions" of the code, and the Legislature's use of "appealable" should not be given a hyper-technical reading in light of the absence of actual "appeals" authorized to the Circuit Court of Kanawha County, and the Legislature's evident intent to transfer review of administrative cases to this Court. This Court has regarded matters relating to public assistance as subject to review by this court under this provision of the code. See, e.g., W. Virginia Dep't of Health & Hum. Res. v. Downs-Jamal, No. 22-ICA-129, 2023 WL 4027502, at *1 (W. Va. App. June 15, 2023) (finding jurisdiction over appeal of decision to terminate provider's contract "pursuant to West Virginia Code § 51-11-4 (2022)").

Moreover, there is a new⁵, specific grant of jurisdiction in Chapter 16 of the code, which deals with review of contested cases applicable to state public health matters and,

⁵ The provisions of the cited sections became effective on May 23, 2023, the date on which this appeal was filed.

specifically, the Bureau for Medical Services. W. Va. Code § 16-1-22a. The new statute defines "agency" as including the Department of Health "Board of Review or the Bureau for Medical Services, as the case may be, that has been named as a party to any proceeding on appeal made pursuant to the provisions of this section." W. Va. Code § 16-1-22a(a)(1). The statute then provides:

- (c) Any party adversely affected or aggrieved by a final decision or order of the agency may seek judicial review of that decision by filing an appeal to the Intermediate Court of Appeals as provided in § 29A-5-4 et seq., of this code.
- (d) The process established by this section is the exclusive remedy for judicial review of final decisions of the Board of Review and the Bureau for Medical Services.

W. Va. Code 16-1-22a(c) and (d). The statute thus defines the right of review as being an appeal under § 29A-5-4 of the APA, without regard to whether the review would otherwise be authorized there, and states that such an appeal is the exclusive means of obtaining review.

II. STANDARD OF REVIEW

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