### IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS

No. 23-ICA-207

ICA EFiled: Oct 05 2023 10:09AM EDT Transaction ID 71025222

West Virginia HCR Manorcare Facilities, Heartland of Beckley, Heartland of Charleston, Heartland of Clarksburg Heartland of Keyser, Heartland of Martinsburg, Heartland of Preston County and Heartland of Rainelle,

**Petitioners Below, Petitioners** 

vs.

West Virginia Department of Health and Human Resources, Bureau for Medical Services,

Respondent Below, Respondent

#### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

KIMBERLY STITZINGER Assistant Attorney General WV State Bar #6583 350 Capitol Street, Room 251 Charleston WV 25301 (304) 352-4268

Counsel for Respondent

###

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

### **II.SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

HCR, a company no longer doing business in West Virginia, refuses to address the clear evidence its negligence caused the Medicaid rates to become unreasonable when its liability expenses were substantially out of line with EVERY facility in West Virginia. Instead, HCR has argued high liability expenses are the cost of doing business in West Virginia and the taxpayers should have given a blank check to HCR to cover all of HCR's reported liability expenses. Taxpayers should not have to pay for HCR's negligence and, fortunately, federal law protects taxpayers. BMS and HCR both agree there must be cost containment. Therefore, BMS disallowed 81.23% of HCR's reported liability expenses. In a Memorandum Decision dated October 26, 2016, the WVSCOA found BMS "erred by eliminating all of HCR's paid legal claims from its June 2012 cost report." Subsequently, BMS added back some of the disallowed claims, but without having documentation regarding HCR's net worth, because HCR refused to provide it.

#### III.STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

The Respondent does not request oral argument. This case has been before the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals twice and three administrative hearings have been held. The Respondent has simply complied with the Supreme Court's mandate.

#### IV.ARGUMENT

i. BMS Did Not Disallow All Liability Expenses, But Will Add Back Some of the Disallowed Expenses In Order to Comply with the WVSCOA.

When BMS recognized HCR's cost reports for January 2012 - June 2012 were resulting in unreasonable rates, BMS took action pursuant to 42 C.F.R. §447.253(b)(1) to ensure the rates were "reasonable and adequate to meet the costs that must be incurred by efficiently and economically operated providers...." Given the time constraints in setting the rates at that time, BMS did not disallow all the liability expenses. A.R.1353, 440, 2033, 2034. Instead, BMS used a calculation which disallowed 81.23% of the reported liability expenses. *Id.* Even after only 81.23% of the reported liability expenses were disallowed, the 6 HCR large bed West Virginia facilities still had liability expenses that ranked in the top 8 facilities and the HCR facility in Beckley still had the highest allowable liability expenses at \$305,128. *Id.* Among the small bed West Virginia facilities, HCR had the second highest allowable liability expenses at \$91,382. *Id.* It was only later that BMS was provided information by HCR with the total amount of actual liability expenses, and BMS did not disallow all of those expenses. A.R.98-103, 2032. Far from disallowing all the liability expenses, BMS reduced the liability expenses to a level determined to be reasonable, while still allowing HCR's liability expenses to be among the highest allowable amounts.

However, BMS will add an additional \$50,000 per large bed facility, in addition to amounts already included. A.R.1516. Even then, HCR will continue to occupy 6 of the top 7 facilities in terms of liability expenses reported. A.R.1516.

However, BMS cannot use the calculation provided in PRM Section 2162.5 because HCR will not provide documentation regarding its net worth. BMS has demonstrated HCR was substantially out of line.

### ii. The Liability Expenses Reported BY HCR Were Substantially Out Of Line From Comparable Facilities.

In addition to the requirement that rates be reasonable as contained in 42 C.F.R. §447.253(b)(1), 42 C.F.R. § 413.9(c) prohibits a nursing facility's costs from being "substantially out of line" from comparable institutions. No matter which facilities are compared to the HCR facilities, HCR's expenses are substantially out of line in comparison because HCR's liability expenses were substantially out of line with EVERY facility.

### 1. HCR's liability expenses were substantially out of line when compared to similar bed size West Virginia facilities.

As the evidence at the first hearing demonstrated, HCR's reported liability expenses were substantially out of line with comparable facilities. A.R.2030. Among the large bed West Virginia facilities, the Heartland of Beckley facility reported the highest liability expenses at approximately 1.6 million dollars. Id. Heartland of Charleston reported expenses of approximately 1.5 million dollars. *Id.* Heartland of Clarksburg, Heartland of Keyser, Heartland of Martinsburg and Heartland of Preston County all reported expenses of nearly 1 million dollars. *Id.* In comparison, the highest amount for a non-HCR facility was approximately 284 thousand dollars.

Similarly, for the small bed West Virginia facilities, the only HCR facility in this group had the highest reported expenses at nearly half a million dollars. A.R.2031. In comparison, the second highest liability expenses reported for this group was a non-HCR facility at just under 100 thousand dollars. *Id*.

Just to sum it up, the liability expenses reported by the highest HCR facility were over 560% higher than the highest non-HCR facility and even the liability expenses reported by the lowest non-HCR facility were still over 350% higher than the highest non-HCR facility.

Clearly, HCR's liability expenses were clearly unreasonable and substantially out of line with comparable facilities.

# 2. HCR's liability expenses were substantially out of line compared to the other national chain in West Virginia.

HCR is a national chain, doing business in about 32 states in 2013. A.R.1378. Genesis Health Care was also a national chain operating in WV and during the relevant time period, Genesis had 9 large bed facilities in West Virginia, compared with HCR's 6 facilities, and 18 small bed facilities in West Virginia, compared with HCR's one facility. A.R.2035. If the HCR facilities are compared to large bed West Virginia facilities operated by a national chain, HCR's liability expenses are still substantially out of line with comparable facilities. *Id.* The highest amount of liability expenses reported by a Genesis facility, Heritage Center, was \$132,948. *Id.* The amounts reported by Genesis facilities decrease from there: Valley Center-\$104,961; Teays Valley Center-\$98,912; Cedar Ridge Center-\$93,717; Hilltop Center-\$89,432; Brightwood Center-\$84,765; Willows Center-\$83,387; Tygart Center-\$51,258; Pierpont Center-\$36,652. *Id.* These amounts are clearly substantially less than the approximately 1 million to 1.6 million dollars of liability expenses reported by HCR's large bed facilities.

Similarly, the small bed HCR West Virginia facility, when compared to the small bed West Virginia facilities operated by the national chain Genesis, reported liability expenses substantially out of line to the 18 small bed facilities operated by Genesis. *Id.* In this case, the only HCR facility reported liability expenses of \$486,839 compared to the highest amount reported by a Genesis facility, Marmet Center, of \$70,916. *Id.* The lowest amount reported by a Genesis facility, Ansted Center, was \$45,598. *Id.* 

Clearly, the HCR facilities were substantially out of line when compared to the Genesis facilities. Even though Genesis had a much larger presence in West Virginia than HCR, Genesis did not have the significant liability expenses that HCR did.

# 3. Consequently, HCR's position is that HCR's facilities should not be compared to any other facilities.

In the end, no matter how you compare the nursing home facilities in West Virginia, HCR's liability expenses will always be substantially out of line when compared to the comparable facilities because the HCR facilities were substantially out of line compared to EVERY other facility in West Virginia. Therefore, HCR has no choice but to argue there are no comparable facilities in West Virginia and their liability expenses should only be compared to the other HCR facilities. However, this approach is not only a way to circumvent the requirements of comparability and reasonableness, but is also a way for the HCR facilities to demand a blank check from the West Virginia taxpayers to pay for the negligence and poor management decisions of HCR without limitation. Clearly, this result is not the intent of 42 C.F.R. § 413.9(c) and it does not meet the reasonableness requirements of 42 C.F.R. § 447.253(b)(1).

Interestingly, though, HCR began to sell its West Virginia facilities in 2013. DHHR Exhibit 23. By the fall of 2015, HCR was no longer doing business in West Virginia.

# 4. HCR's liability expenses were substantially out of line compared to those reported by HCR's successor for the facilities formerly owned by HCR.

HCR's liability expenses are substantially out of line with every other facility in the state so that no matter how you compare the facilities, HCR's liability expenses are substantially out of line. Therefore, HCR argues its facilities should only be compared to HCR facilities because none of the other 45 large bed West Virginia facilities compare to the 6 HCR large bed West Virginia

facilities and none of the 61 small bed West Virginia facilities compare to the one and only HCR small bed facility.

But HCR stopped doing business in West Virginia several years ago and the former HCR facilities are not reporting the same liability expenses that HCR did. DHHR Exhibit 24. In fact, during the most recent cost reporting period, none of the former HCR facilities had a disallowance. *Id.* The highest amount reported by a former HCR facility for the large bed West Virginia homes was \$266,361 by the former Heartland of Beckley facility. The former Heartland of Charleston reported \$204,941; the former Heartland of Clarksburg reported \$191, 922; the former Heartland of Martinsburg reported \$79,178; former Heartland of Preston County reported \$78,838; and the former Heartland of Keyser reported \$55,547. The one former HCR small bed West Virginia facility reported liability expenses of \$18,390.

When these amounts are compared to the amounts reported by HCR for the relevant time period, HCR was clearly substantially out of line in comparison. But even if these amounts are compared to the amounts BMS allowed HCR to report for the relevant time period, HCR still had higher allowable amounts for each facility than the reported amounts for the former facilities.

Clearly, excessive liability expenses are NOT the cost of doing business in West Virginia.

### iii. HCR's Liability Expenses were Clearly Unreasonable and Substantially Out of Line.

As discussed at length in prior briefing, the liability expenses submitted by HCR clearly resulted in unreasonable rates and BMS had an obligation under 42 C.F.R. § 447.253(b)(1) to take action to ensure the rates were reasonable. Therefore, a percentage of the reported liability expenses were disallowed. Also, the reported liability expenses were, clearly, substantially out of line with EVERY facility in West Virginia in violation of 42 C.F.R. § 413.9(c). Since the

methodology used by BMS to set rates, clearly, demonstrates both of these violations of federal law, HCR developed three creative theories to support its position that the costs were not "substantially out of line" and also tried to make another attempt to demonstrate, "here's an approach to look at reasonable costs." A.R.1387, 1393. All three theories fail.

First, HCR tries to use the \$39.07 per patient day rate from December 2011 to support its argument its liability expenses from the January-June 2012 cost reporting period are reasonable. A.R.1393. However, the per patient day rate would not be comparable to the liability expenses actually reported by HCR for the January - June 2012 cost reporting period since it was from a prior period. A.R.1440, 1408. BMS only uses the costs reported for each 6 month period to set the rates. *Id.* For the relevant period, the per patient per day rate was \$60.60, which resulted in unreasonable rates. A.R.1327.

Second, HCR uses a liability insurance level of \$5,600 using the amount of liability expenses reported by Beverly Health Care Center during the relevant time period to demonstrate the reasonableness of their expenses. A.R.1443, 1392, 1393. However, a portion of the liability expenses reported by Beverly Health Care Center was also disallowed because paid claims had been included. A.R.1408, 1439. Therefore, HCR was incorrect to rely upon the \$5,600 reported amount.

Finally, HCR relies upon a figure contained in the AON report, but HCR did not provide an expert to explain how the figures contained in the AON report were derived. A.R.1445. Without basic information regarding these figures, HCR cannot rely on them to rebut the clear evidence presented by BMS that HCR's reported liability expenses were unreasonable and substantially out of line with comparable facilities. For example, the AON report itself indicates only 52% of the total beds in the state participated in the study, but there is not information

regarding which facilities participated and how the information for those facilities would have impacted the numbers. A.R.1990.

# iv. HCR does not know how BMS decided to add in additional claims because of the attorney-client privilege.

HCR claims BMS erred by relying on counsel in allowing additional claims to be included in the cost report. However, HCR does not know what was discussed with counsel as those conversations are protected by the attorney-client privilege.

### V. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

The Bureau for Medical Services respectfully requests the Bureau's action to disallow a percentage of the reported liability expenses, which were substantially out of line with EVERY facility in West Virginia and resulted in unreasonable rates, be upheld.

#### RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED BY:

WEST VIRGINIA DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN RESOURCES, BUREAU FOR MEDICAL SERVICES, By Counsel,

PATRICK MORRISEY ATTORNEY GENERAL

### Kimberly Stitzinger

Kimberly Stitzinger (WVSB #6583) Assistant Attorney General, BMS 350 Capitol Street, Room 251 Charleston, WV 25301 In Re: HCR ManorCare